RECEIVED

MAY 19 2015

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Oconee County
Court of General Sessions
R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2012-GS-37-597
Appellate Case No. 2013-001895

State of South Carolina,

Respondent,

v.

James Richard Bartee, Jr.,

Appellant

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Jack B. Swerling
1720 Main Street, Suite 301
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
Telephone: 803-765-2626
South Carolina Bar number 5457

Katherine Carruth Goode
229 South Congress Street
Post Office Box 1175
Winnsboro, South Carolina 29180
Telephone: 803-799-4440
South Carolina Bar number 8951

Attorneys for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial court err in allowing questioning concerning a suspension in appellant's employment history and in denying the defense motion for a mistrial based on the solicitor's questions concerning the suspension and the basis for the suspension?
2. Did the trial court err in allowing Nick Blackwell, a prosecution witness, to give his subjective, speculative interpretation of certain statements alleged to have been made by appellant during a recorded conversation?
3. Did the trial court err in admitting a disk containing an audio recording of certain conversations between Nick Blackwell and others, in admitting a purported transcript of that recording, and in limiting the defense's cross-examination of one of the state's witnesses with respect to that recording?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, James Richard Bartee, Jr., was arrested May 30, 2012, on a charge of solicitation to commit a felony, based on an allegation that he solicited another individual to kidnap James C. Williams, Jr., a retired South Carolina circuit court judge. R. p. 3. An Oconee County grand jury returned a true bill of indictment on the charge on July 9, 2012. R. pp. 1-2. Pretrial hearings were held February 8, 2013, before Judge J.C. Nicholson, Jr., and March 14, 2013, before Judge R. Lawton McIntosh. Judge McIntosh presided over the trial in Oconee County Court of General Sessions August 26-30 and September 3, 2013. The jury found appellant guilty, and the court sentenced him to a term of 10 years, suspended to five years of active service and five years of probation, plus 250 hours of public service while on probation. R. pp. 4, 843-45.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant is retired from a 25-year career with the United States Secret Service, seven years of which were served in South Carolina. R. pp. 625, 627, 630, 741. In 2012, he was a candidate for sheriff of Oconee County in the Republican primary. R. p. 147. At the time of his arrest, he remained affiliated with the Secret Service, as a special investigator, conducting background investigations for the Secret Service. R. p. 639.

During the sheriff's race, questions surfaced concerning whether appellant met the eligibility requirements to run for sheriff. R. pp. 147, 674. Appellant maintained he was qualified, and the Republican Party certified him to be on the ballot. R. pp. 149-50. In May 2012, Judge Williams brought an action against the Oconee County Republican Party and Oconee County Commission of Registration and Elections, seeking a determination that appellant did not meet the qualifications for sheriff and seeking his removal from the ballot. R. pp. 152, 161, 672-73, 905-13. Appellant moved to intervene and was made a party in that action. R. pp. 675-76, 922-24. An initial hearing was held May 24, 2012, and the case was continued to May 30, 2012. R. pp. 152, 676-79. This criminal charge arose from an allegation that appellant asked Nick Blackwell to kidnap Judge Williams, in order to prevent Williams from being present at the hearing on May 30.

Nick Blackwell alleged that on May 27, 2012, appellant asked him to kidnap Judge Williams and gave him \$200 to purchase the supplies he would need. R. pp. 330-33, 385. On May 29, Blackwell reported this allegation to an Oconee County sheriff's deputy. R. pp. 192-94, 335-36. Oconee County referred the allegation to the State Law

Enforcement Division (SLED). R. pp. 195, 336, 415. SLED obtained the assistance of Anderson County sheriff's deputies. R. pp. 197-98, 416-20.

Using equipment of the Anderson County Sheriff's Department, on the night of May 29-30, the officers created a recording of two telephone calls, one allegedly made by Blackwell to Joe Milbert and another allegedly returned by Milbert to Blackwell, and of a wire transmission of an alleged conversation between Blackwell and appellant. R. pp. 200, 205. The court admitted this recording into evidence, over defense objections on multiple grounds. R. pp. 115-18, 124-25, 254-55, 341. The officers also provided Blackwell with \$138 in cash, with recorded serial numbers, to give to appellant, ostensibly to return a portion of the funds Blackwell claimed appellant had given him. R. pp. 199, 342, 368, 428.

The state contended the recording implicated appellant in the solicitation of a felony alleged to have occurred two nights earlier. Over the defense's objection, the court allowed Blackwell to testify to his own subjective, speculative interpretations of what appellant meant by certain comments on the recording. R. pp. 345-48, 355-69.

Blackwell and appellant had become acquainted during the campaign for sheriff. R. pp. 316-17, 646-47. Blackwell claimed that on May 26, 2012, at a community festival, appellant talked about the civil suit filed by Judge Williams and wondered what would happen if Williams did not show up for court. R. p. 324. After appellant had left, Blackwell claimed another individual, Ryan Stancil, approached and gave him a business card with Williams' name and address on the back. R. p. 324. Blackwell claimed the next night, May 27, at appellant's house, appellant asked him to kidnap Williams. R. pp. 329-30. Another witness, Lewis Stevenson Hunnicutt, who was in appellant's garage,

heard this entire conversation over an intercom and testified appellant did not plan a kidnapping in that conversation. R. pp. 541, 543, 546, 549.

The defense contended there was never any plan by appellant to kidnap Judge Williams and never any solicitation of a felony. R. pp. 652, 697, 699-701, 715, 731, 734. Milbert testified Blackwell, not appellant, talked about kidnapping Judge Williams. R. pp. 266, 275, 280-81. Appellant also heard Blackwell talk about doing something to Judge Williams. R. p. 680. Blackwell had also talked about harming others, and appellant did not take him seriously. R. p. 680. Blackwell told another witness appellant had asked him to kidnap a judge, and she also did not think he was serious. R. pp. 301, 305-07. Stancil said Blackwell, not appellant, asked him to look up Judge Williams' information. R. pp. 569-70. It was Stancil who wrote the information on a business card and gave it to Blackwell. R. pp. 324, 574.

Witnesses testified that Blackwell had a temper, did not behave well, and was disruptive, frequently upset, crazy, and "a nut." R. pp. 266, 280, 493, 508-10, 574, 590, 603-04, 609-10, 688-90. Blackwell was upset about the way the Sheriff's Department had handled an incident the previous year in which Blackwell had shot someone. R. pp. 278, 315. Recently, Blackwell had gotten into an altercation with Donnie Fricks, a former sheriff's deputy who was also a candidate in the sheriff's race. R. pp. 148, 278-79, 320. Blackwell claimed he and his family had been threatened by supporters of other candidates, and he was frustrated and angry about the things that were happening in connection with the campaign. R. pp. 265-67. Witnesses testified that appellant, who was an Aikido instructor, had used and had suggested that they also use verbal Aikido techniques to calm Blackwell down when he became upset. R. pp. 282-83, 493-99, 604-

05, 609-10, 688-90. Comments made during the recorded conversation were consistent with what appellant would say to calm Blackwell down. R. pp. 493-99, 594, 605, 690-91. Witnesses also testified that appellant had loaned \$180 to Blackwell on May 19, several days before Judge Williams filed the action to have appellant removed from the ballot. R. pp. 586, 590-92, 671, 699, 905-18. Appellant believed it was this loan that Blackwell was repaying with the funds given to him on the night of May 29-30. R. pp. 713-14.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING QUESTIONING CONCERNING A SUSPENSION IN APPELLANT'S EMPLOYMENT HISTORY AND FURTHER ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENSE MISTRIAL MOTION BASED ON THIS QUESTIONING.

The state called Joe Milbert as a witness in its case-in-chief. Milbert and appellant were friends, having known each other since first grade. R. pp. 255-56. During cross-examination, the defense questioned Milbert about appellant's training with the Secret Service. R. p. 275, lines 23-25. Milbert answered, "He had exemplary training." R. p. 276, line 1. On redirect, the following exchange took place between the solicitor and Milbert:

Q. And, like I said, I don't want to put words in your mouth, but I believe you testified that he had - - on cross that he had an exemplary record with the Secret Service.

A. As far as I know Rick had an exemplary record. He was respected by a lot of people in the Secret Service. I went to his retirement party and the people spoke nothing but good things of him.

....

Q. Do you have any access to his personnel and disciplinary records while he was at Secret Service?

A. No. I do not.

Q. Would you be surprised to know that he was disciplined - - -

R. p. 290, line 12 – p. 291, line 3. The defense interposed an objection, but the court ruled the defense had opened the door to this question. R. p. 291, lines 4-6. Thereafter, the prosecutor questioned the witness about an alleged three-day suspension for using racial slurs while appellant was a Secret Service agent. R. p. 291, lines 9-11.

The court erred in ruling the defense opened the door and in allowing this questioning concerning appellant’s alleged disciplinary record. The defense did not open the door. Rather, the defense questioned the witness concerning appellant’s *training*, which the witness characterized as exemplary. R. p. 275, line 22 – p. 276, line 1. The defense went on to inquire further about appellant’s training, technical skills, and his intellect. R. p. 276, line 15; p. 277, lines 4-6; p. 278, lines 1-2. The defense did not ask any questions whatsoever about appellant’s employment record. On redirect, the solicitor misstated the witness’s prior testimony, saying, “I believe that you testified he had . . . an exemplary *record* with the Secret Service.” R. p. 290, lines 13-15 (emphasis added). It was this statement by the prosecutor, not any question by the defense, that prompted the witness to comment on appellant’s record. The defense did not open the door. *Cf. State v. Young*, 378 S.C. 101, 106, 661 S.E.2d 387, 389 (2008) (defendant’s testimony that he hated to see a woman cry did not open the door to admission of his prior convictions for criminal domestic violence and criminal sexual assault); *State v. Page*, 378 S.C. 476, 483, 663 S.E.2d 357, 360 (Ct. App. 2008) (defense questions on the detective’s investigative techniques and sufficiency of evidence linked to defendant did not open the door to

introduction of unredacted statement of co-defendant which implicated defendant by name).

Later, discussing the court's door-opening ruling in the context of a mistrial motion made after the jury was out, the defense argued its questions did not open the door. R. p. 312, lines 11-14. The court explained its ruling further, stating,

. . . It became patently obvious that this witness was doing his best because of his relationship with the Defendant to defend the Defendant, and I don't blame him for doing that because of their friendship. But that basically puts him in a hostile mode against the State. He was going overboard in his statements building up the Defendant in the eyes of the jury, which is his right to do so as a witness. But, in doing so, I think he expanded, he gave the State the opening to go into that particular question because he was going into all these other particular attributes that the Defendant had.

. . . .
. . . I do find the witness opened the door and [the solicitor] had a right to inquire into the record.

R. p. 312, line 16 – p. 313, line 2; p. 313, lines 19-21. The court's ruling is contrary to the principles governing admission of otherwise inadmissible evidence under the rationale that the defense opened the door and thereby invited a response.

A defendant may open the door to otherwise improper evidence through its own introduction of evidence or witness examination. *State v. Culbreath*, 377 S.C. 326, 333, 659 S.E.2d 268, 272 (Ct. App. 2008). Where one party introduces evidence as to a particular fact or transaction, the other party is entitled to introduce evidence in explanation or rebuttal thereof, even if the latter evidence would have been incompetent or irrelevant had it been offered initially. *State v. Stroman*, 281 S.C. 508, 513, 316 S.E.2d 395, 399 (1984); *State v. Beam*, 336 S.C. 45, 52, 518 S.E.2d 297, 301 (Ct. App. 1999). A party may not complain of error induced by his own conduct. *Stroman*, 281 S.C. at 513, 316 S.E.2d at 399; *Beam*, 336 S.C. at 52-53, 518 S.E.2d at 301. In this case,

these principles are not applicable. Here, the door was not opened by the defense's own introduction of evidence or examination of the witness. The question concerning appellant's record was first posed by the *solicitor* on redirect. It was not in explanation or rebuttal of anything elicited from the witness by the *defense* during cross-examination. This was not a situation of the defense's making. Nor do the precedents support the court's conclusion that the *witness* opened the door, where the witness was not asked any question by the defense pertaining to the subject matter about which the solicitor sought to question him.

Although the trial court is afforded discretion in determining whether the defense opened the door to otherwise inadmissible evidence, *see Page*, 378 S.C. at 483, 663 S.E.2d at 360, in this case, the court abused that discretion. An abuse of discretion occurs when the court's ruling is not supported by the evidence or is controlled by an error of law. *State v. Portillo*, 408 S.C. 66, 69, 757 S.E.2d 721, 723 (Ct. App. 2014); *State v. Chisholm*, 395 S.C. 259, 265, 717 S.E.2d 614, 617 (Ct. App. 2011). Here, the court's ruling is unsupported by the evidence, since the record establishes that the defense did not ask any question that opened the door. The court's ruling is also controlled by an error of law, to the extent it is premised on the notion that a prosecution witness, rather than the defense, may open the door to admission of improper evidence.

Following the court's ruling, the solicitor questioned the witness not only concerning the alleged three-day suspension, but also the alleged basis for that suspension – a report that appellant had used racial slurs. R. p. 291, lines 9-11. The defense moved for a mistrial. Counsel argued two reasons. First, he had not opened the door to evidence about a suspension. R. p. 312, lines 11-14. Second, the solicitor's

question went too far in also stating the alleged basis for the suspension – use of racial slurs. R. p. 313, lines 5-16. The defense argued the reference to racial slurs was overly prejudicial and far exceeded any probative value the information might have. Especially where the jury included African-Americans, this information had the potential to taint the jury. *Id.*; *see also* R. p. 12, line 23 – p. 13, line 5 (seating of juror 253, a black female); p. 14, lines 8-15 (seating of juror 46, a black female). The court abused its discretion in denying the mistrial motion.

Even under the doctrine that the defendant can open the door to admission of otherwise inadmissible evidence, the invited response is allowed only to the extent that it does not unfairly prejudice the defendant. *See Ellenburg v. State*, 367 S.C. 66, 69, 625 S.E.2d 224, 226 (2006); *Vaughn v. State*, 362 S.C. 163, 170-71, 607 S.E.2d 72, 75-76 (2004). Here, the solicitor's redirect far exceeded a fair response, which would have been simply to introduce the fact of the suspension. Instead, the solicitor unnecessarily injected provocative and inflammatory information – that appellant had been accused of using racial slurs. The court clearly understood the inflammatory nature of the information, noting that giving a curative charge would further call attention to it and be “like rubbing the scab.” R. p. 314, lines 2-3.

Although the grant or denial of a mistrial is a matter in the court's discretion, a mistrial should be granted where both error and resulting prejudice are shown. *Chisholm*, 395 S.C. at 274, 717 S.E.2d at 622. A mistrial is necessary where the prejudicial effect cannot be removed in any other way. *State v. Ferguson*, 376 S.C. 615, 618-19, 658 S.E.2d 101, 103 (Ct. App. 2008); *Chisholm*, 395 S.C. at 274, 717 S.E.2d at 622. Here, these requirements are met. The court clearly erred in allowing this improper questioning

of the witness about appellant's prior suspension. Moreover, the information imparted by the solicitor was highly inflammatory and unduly prejudicial, and no curative charge could remove the prejudice resulting from this information in the minds of the jury. The solicitor's questioning so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process. *See Vaughn*, 362 S.C. at 169-70, 607 S.E.2d at 75; U.S. Const. amend. V, XIV; S.C. Const. art. I, § 3.

Here, prejudice is clear. The potential is great that a defendant would be prejudiced in the eyes of *any* juror, of *any* race, by an inference that he would express ill-will toward another individual on the basis of race. However, the potential prejudice is exponentially greater where some of the jurors deciding his fate are of a different race and therefore likely to perceive that his racial animus is also directed at them personally. Under these circumstances, it was absolutely necessary to grant a mistrial, to insure that the defendant was convicted based on actual guilt, and not based on an extraneous, improper factor that tended to inflame the passions and prejudices of the jurors.

Allowing this questioning was not harmless. The state opened its cross-examination by revisiting the issue of appellant's suspension, dwelling on it for four pages of the transcript. R. pp. 738-41. The solicitor compounded the prejudice by stating the actual alleged pejorative phrases – “you're a damned black cow” and “a black bitch” – phrases supposedly contained in a report that was never admitted into evidence. R. p. 740, lines 11-12, 22. Indeed, the solicitor mentioned the second phrase even after the court sustained a hearsay objection as to the first phrase. R. p. 740, line 16-17. But for the court's prior erroneous ruling that the defense had opened the door, this area of cross-examination would have been absolutely off limits. The state emphasized this evidence

in its argument to the jury, stating “it shows you what kind of man he really is.” R. p. 815, lines 17-18. This argument invited the jury to convict because of “what kind of man he really is,” not on the basis of a finding that he was guilty of the charged offense beyond a reasonable doubt. Under the circumstances of this case, the erroneous rulings on the defense’s objection and motion for mistrial cannot be deemed harmless. This Court should reverse and grant appellant a new trial.

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING NICK BLACKWELL TO GIVE HIS SUBJECTIVE, SPECULATIVE INTERPRETATION OF CERTAIN STATEMENTS ALLEGED TO HAVE BEEN MADE BY APPELLANT ON THE RECORDING.

Nick Blackwell testified concerning the alleged conversation of May 27 when he claimed appellant asked him to kidnap Judge Williams. According to Blackwell, appellant wanted Williams not to show up for court and suggested he take him to Asheville, North Carolina, and leave him there, so he would not make it back for court. R. p. 331. Blackwell stated appellant specifically told him not to kill Williams. R. p. 331.

Later in Blackwell’s testimony, the solicitor asked what appellant meant by certain statements contained on the recording of the alleged conversation the night of May 29-30. Blackwell stated what he claimed appellant said about letting the dust settle and not needing a mask. The solicitor asked what appellant meant, the defense objected, and the objection was sustained. R. p. 345, lines 8-10. Shortly thereafter, the solicitor asked, “Did he tell you not to do it or did he just tell you to wait?” R. p. 345, lines 15-16. Blackwell answered by stating,

It seems as if he was saying, Let’s don’t kidnap the judge, let’s wait till the dust settles and we’re gonna do some other action. It was implied. You know, he never was very specific.

R. p. 345, lines 17-20. The court overruled a defense objection to this testimony. R. p. 345, lines 21-23. Blackwell continued:

He never was very specific. But it implied to me, my perception of it was when he said I didn't need a mask because they were talking about having a mask before because he couldn't identify me, he said I don't need a mask when I sneak up on them because if they were dead, it wouldn't matter if they saw me anyway.

R. p. 345, line 24 – p. 346, line 5. The defense objected and moved to strike. R. p. 346, line 6.

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