6

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Oconee County
Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2013-001895

RECEIVED

MAY 13 2015

SC Court of Appeals

The State

v.

James Richard Bartee Jr.

Appellant.

AMENDED FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WILLIAM M. BLITCH, JR.
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 15608

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

CHRISTINA T. ADAMS
Solicitor, Tenth Judicial Circuit

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Oconee County
Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2013-001895

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

ARGUMENT

- I. **The trial court did not err in allowing the State to rebut Appellant's good character evidence after he opened the door regarding his service record in the Secret Service and did not err in denying his motion for a mistrial. Further, the issues are not preserved for review on appeal.**

Appellant contends the trial court erred in allowing the State to question Joe Milbert, a State's witness, regarding Appellant's service as a Secret Service Agent to rebut Appellant's questioning of the witness regarding Appellant's good character and "honorable" service. Appellant opened the door to the State's evidence by inserting his good character into the trial by having the witness describe his "honorable" service. The State had the right to rebut the evidence by admitting Appellant's suspension into the record and explain the facts surrounding the suspension.

Preservation

First, the issues raised on appeal regarding the questioning of Milbert are not preserved for review on appeal. When the State began questioning Milbert and asked: "Would you be surprised to know that he was disciplined - - -," the only objection raised by Appellant was to hearsay. The trial court overruled on the basis he opened the door and Appellant never challenged the ruling he opened the door, thereby conceding the holding. As a result, Appellant cannot now complain about any error in the trial court's ruling regarding opening the door or other violations. See State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 694 (2003) ("A party may not argue one ground at trial and an alternate ground on appeal."); State v. Benton, 338 S.C. 151, 156-57, 526 S.E.2d 228, 231 (2000) (stating an issue conceded at trial cannot be argued on appeal). Further, when

the allegedly improper question was asked and the State indicated Appellant was suspended for racial slurs, no objection was made on any basis. As a result the issues related to the prejudice resulting from this testimony and the basis for the mistrial are not properly preserved for review on appeal. See State v. Johnson, 363 S.C. 53, 609 S.E.2d 520 (2005) (finding to preserve an issue for review there must be a contemporaneous objection that is ruled on by the lower court).

Next, the issue of the trial court's denial of the motion for a mistrial is not preserved for review on appeal. Appellant waited for several additional witnesses to testify prior to moving for a mistrial. As a result, he failed to contemporaneously raise the issue as he is required. See State v. George, 323 S.C. 496, 510, 476 S.E.2d 903, 912 (1996); State v. Simmons, 384 S.C. 145, 171–72, 682 S.E.2d 19, 32–33 (Ct. App. 2009).

Additionally, after his motion for a mistrial was denied, the trial court offered to make a curative instruction about the basis of the suspension. Appellant responded by staying "I don't know if I want you to do that, so let me think about that." (T.549; R. 314). No curative instruction was requested and none given, so Appellant has waived this issue on appeal. See State v. Tucker, 324 S.C. 155, 169, 478 S.E.2d 260, 267 (1996) (finding issue unpreserved when defendant refused trial court's curative instruction); State v. Bantan, 387 S.C. 412, 418, 692 S.E.2d 201, 204 (Ct. App. 2010) (finding the defendant waived any objection to denial of mistrial when he refused offered curative instruction).

Merits

First, the admission or exclusion of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of that discretion. State v. Saltz,

346 S.C. 114, 551 S.E.2d 240 (2001); see also, State v. Torres, 390 S.C. 618, 625, 703 S.E.2d 226, 230 (2010) (“The appellate court reviews a trial judge’s ruling on admissibility of evidence pursuant to an abuse of discretion standard and gives great deference to the trial court.”). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court’s ruling lacks any evidentiary support or is based on an error of law. State v. McDonald, 343 S.C. 319, 540 S.E.2d 464 (2000).

Additionally, a trial judge’s ruling on a motion for a mistrial will not be disturbed absent an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law. State v. Sparkman, 358 S.C. 491, 495, 596 S.E.2d 375, 377 (2004); State v. Harris, 340 S.C. 59, 63, 530 S.E.2d 626, 628 (2000). This Court favors the exercise of wide discretion of the trial judge in determining the merits of such motion in each individual case. See State v. Patterson, 337 S.C. 215, 226, 522 S.E.2d 845, 851 (Ct. App. 1999).

A mistrial should be declared only when absolutely necessary. In order to receive a mistrial, the defendant must show error and resulting prejudice. Harris, 340 S.C. at 63, 530 S.E.2d at 628; State v. Ward, 374 S.C. 606, 612, 649 S.E.2d 145, 148 (Ct. App. 2007). “A mistrial should only be granted in cases of manifest necessity and with the greatest caution for very plain and obvious reasons.” Patterson, 337 S.C. at 227, 522 S.E.2d at 851 (citing State v. Wasson, 299 S.C. 508, 386 S.E.2d 255 (1989); State v. Kirby, 269 S.C. 25, 236 S.E.2d 33 (1977) (power of court to declare mistrial ought to be used with greatest caution under urgent circumstances, and for very plain and obvious causes)). Granting of a mistrial is a serious and extreme measure which should only be taken when the prejudice can be removed no other way. State v. Edwards, 373 S.C. 230,

236, 644 S.E.2d 66, 69 (Ct. App. 2007) (citing State v. Stanley, 365 S.C. 24, 34, 615 S.E.2d 455, 460 (Ct. App. 2005)).

Pursuant to Rule 404(a), SCRE: “Evidence of a person’s character or a trait of character is not admissible for the purpose of proving action in conformity therewith on a particular occasion.” The rule contains several exceptions including: (1) evidence of a pertinent trait of character admitted by the Appellant; or (2) evidence to rebut that good character admitted by the prosecution. Rule 404(a)(1), SCRE. As the Supreme Court stated in State v. Young, 378 S.C. 101, 661 S.E.2d 387 (2008): “when the accused offers evidence of his good character regarding specific character traits relevant to the crime charged, the solicitor has the right to cross-examine him as to particular bad acts or conduct.” Young, 378 S.C. at 106, 661 S.E.2d at 389 (citing State v. Major, 301 S.C. 181, 391 S.E.2d 235 (1990)).

Further, the determination of whether a party opened the door to the admission of otherwise inadmissible evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial court and can only be reversed on an abuse of that discretion. See State v. Page, 378 S.C. 476, 483, 663 S.E.2d 357, 360 (Ct. App. 2008). Further, ordinarily, when a party introduces evidence about a particular matter, the other party is entitled to explain it or rebut it if the testimony would otherwise confuse the jury. State v. Beam, 336 S.C. 45, 52, 518 S.E.2d 297, 301 (Ct. App. 1999) (citing State v. Stroman, 281 S.C. 508, 316 S.E.2d 395 (1984)).

Appellant attempts to portray the testimony on cross-examination by Joe Milbert as being an innocuous comment on the “training” received by Appellant in the Secret Service. The testimony actually goes well beyond a simple comment on his exemplary

training and was taken beyond this comment at the direct questioning of Appellant's counsel.

Appellant is correct the initial question asked involved Appellant's training and Milbert's full answer included: "He had exemplary training. I mean, he was nominated for law enforcement officer of the year by judge - - -" (T.508; R. 276) (emphasis added). The only reason the comment was cut off was because of an objection by the State and not because Appellant attempted to prohibit its introduction. Appellant's counsel then rephrased to ask what Milbert knew of Appellant's training and Milbert did not respond about training but instead talked about how he was taken through the White House under two different presidents and how Appellant got him into areas you don't normally get into during a tour. (T.508-509; R. 276-277). Milbert then talked about some of the actual training Appellant had and again discussed his good character by relating the training to how Appellant was able to get a job for Milbert. Appellant's counsel then asked: "Now, how smart is [Appellant]?" Milbert answered he is "very smart" again addressing relevant character traits regarding whether someone would solicit someone to kidnap a former judge.

Significantly, the following colloquy occurs between Appellant's counsel and Milbert:

Q. Okay. You got a, you got a set of scales and you put intelligence, experience, and worldly knowledge on the scale. Where is [Appellant] compared to Blackwell [a State's witness against Appellant]?

A. [Appellant's] ten times - - -

.....

Q. Are they in the same socioeconomic class?

A. No.

Q. Are they in the same intelligence class, I mean by brain power?

- A. No.
- Q. Are they in the same class as far as technical training goes?
- A. No.
- Q. Okay. If I ask you to describe what you know Nick Blackwell in one word, what is it?
- A. "Simple."
- Q. Do the same thing for [Appellant].
- A. One word is hard. "**Honorable.**"
- Q. Honorable. Okay. All right. . . .

(T.511-512; R. 279-280)(emphasis added).

The only reason for these questions was to present Appellant in as good a light as possible and to clearly indicate he had characteristics such as intelligence, training, and "honorableness" not to solicit someone "simple" like Nick Blackwell to kidnap someone for him. As a result, the State was certainly entitled to respond to the character evidence directly solicited by Appellant's counsel during his examination of Milbert. See Rule 404(a), SCRE. Further, this testimony certainly opened the door to the State to question just how "honorable" Appellant was during his time as a secret service agent. As a result, the trial court properly allowed the State to demonstrate Appellant was not as "honorable" as Milbert portrayed him.

As it relates to the motion for a mistrial, even if it could be preserved, Appellant did not suffer the type of prejudice necessary to justify the extreme remedy of a mistrial. The trial court specifically found any prejudice suffered did not warrant a mistrial. The court found any prejudice could be cured by a curative instruction, which was refused by Appellant. (T.548-549; R. 313-314). As a result, there is no error in denying the motion for a mistrial.

Finally, the questioning by the State did not result in the admission of any evidence and was merely a question by the State's counsel. Milbert denied knowing

anything about the facts and so no evidence was admitted through the questioning. Even during the questioning of Appellant, he denied the substance of the report and other questions were objected to as hearsay which was sustained. No evidence was admitted, and so even if the questions may have been inappropriate, Appellant cannot demonstrate prejudice. See State v. Watts, 320 S.C. 377, 465 S.E.2d 359 (Ct. App. 1995) (where objectionable questions resulted in no introduction of evidence, defendant suffered no prejudice); see also Gainey v. Tyner, 259 S.C. 629, 631, 193 S.E.2d 525, 526 (1972) (asking of an improper question did not result in prejudice where the witness's response to the question, after the trial judge overruled counsel's objection, was "I don't know").

II. The trial did not err in allowing Blackwell to offer his interpretation of comments made by Appellant to Blackwell based on Blackwell's personal knowledge. Additionally, the issue raised regarding speculation is not preserved for review on appeal.

Appellant maintains the trial court erred in allowing Blackwell to offer his interpretation of comments made by Appellant to Blackwell which were recorded. Appellant maintains that testimony constituted impermissible speculation by Blackwell as to the statements of Appellant. To the contrary, Blackwell's testimony was not based on speculation but, instead, was based on the impressions and natural inferences he drew from events he personally and directly experienced. Further, those impressions are necessary to determine whether Appellant solicited Blackwell to commit a crime. As a result, any possible prejudice could not have substantially outweighed the testimony's probative value. Additionally, Appellant objected on the basis of Rule 403, SCRE at trial and not on the basis of improper speculation or reliability of evidence so those portions of the argument are not preserved for review on appeal.

Preservation

When Blackwell began testifying regarding his interpretation of Appellant's comments, Appellant objected. After a discussion with the trial court, Appellant waived any objection on any ground except Rule 403, SCRE, that the probative value of the testimony was substantially outweighed by the prejudice created. At trial, the following colloquy occurred:

Court: What evidentiary rule are you using other than it's just not right?
Counsel: Well, Your Honor, how does he know what Mr. Bartee was implying, if anything?

Court: He is testifying it seems to me based on his, his impression of the conversation, which he is allowed to do. Do you disagree?

Counsel: No, I don't disagree. However, he's not - -

Court: And I'll hear you. But wouldn't that be a matter of Cross-Examination just like the civil suit and the other matters we brought up at pretrial?

Counsel: It would, Your Honor.

....

Court: Okay. What evidentiary rule should I consider in considering your request?

Counsel: Its prejudicial value far outweighs any probative value of this testimony.

Court: 403?

Counsel: Yes, sir.

(T.582-583; R. 347-348) (emphasis added). As a result, Appellant acknowledged any previous arguments regarding speculation, whether Blackwell was contradicting himself, and whether he ever had the same impression before were not a proper basis for excluding the testimony. He raised his one sole proper objection based on Rule 403 and whether the prejudice from the testimony substantially outweighed the probative value. This is the only issue preserved for review on appeal and all other grounds were waived at trial. See State v. Bryant, 372 S.C. 305, 315–16, 642 S.E.2d 582, 588 (2007) (holding an issue conceded in the trial court cannot be argued on appeal); State v. Gilmore, 396 S.C. 72, 84, 719 S.E.2d 688, 694 (Ct. App. 2011) (same); see also, Burke v. AnMed Health, 393 S.C. 48, 55, 710 S.E.2d 84, 88 (Ct. App. 2011) (“When a party states to the trial court that it has no objection to the introduction of evidence, even though the party previously made a motion to exclude the evidence, the issue raised in the previous motion is not preserved for appellate review.”).

Merits

As discussed above, the admission of evidence is within the trial court's discretion and will only be reversed based upon an abuse of that discretion amounting to an error of law. See State v. Torres, 390 S.C. 618, 625, 703 S.E.2d 226, 230 (2010) (“The appellate court reviews a trial judge’s ruling on admissibility of evidence pursuant to an abuse of discretion standard and gives great deference to the trial court.”). In the instant case, the trial court properly found Blackwell was entitled to offer his impressions of the conversation in which he was involved with Appellant.¹ The court also properly overruled the objection based on Rule 403.

Lay witnesses are permitted to offer opinion testimony when the opinion or inference: (1) is rationally based on the witness’ perception; (2) is helpful to a clear understanding of the witness’ testimony or to the determination of a fact in issue; and (3) does not require special knowledge, skill, experience, or training. Rule 701, SCRE; see State v. Williams, 321 S.C. 455, 463, 469 S.E.2d 49, 54 (1996). “[C]onclusions or opinions of laymen should be rejected only when they are superfluous in the sense that they will be of no value to the jury.” State v. McClinton, 265 S.C. 171, 176-177, 217 S.E.2d 584, 586 (1975). “The terms ‘fact’ and ‘opinion’ denote merely a difference of degree of concreteness of description. Some statements are not mere opinions but are impressions drawn from collected, observed facts.” Williams, 321 S.C. at 463-464, 469 S.E.2d at 54 (internal citations omitted).

¹ Counsel for Appellant at trial obviously agreed his arguments were better suited to the weight of the evidence in front of the jury as opposed to the admissibility of the evidence in the court’s gatekeeper function based on his concession to the trial court that he did not disagree the arguments he raised were appropriate for cross-examination. (T.582; R. 347).

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